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SMITH, PRESIDING JUSTICE, FOR THE COURT:

1. This case comes to this Court on apped from the Chancery Court of the Firgt Judicid Didtrict of Hinds
County, Missssippi, where Charles T. Jones brought suit against Bobby M. Howell, a pharmacist and
member of the Mississippi House of Representatives, for Howell's dleged violation of Article 4, Section
109 of the Missssppi Condtitution. Section 109 forbids public officers from having adirect or indirect
interest in a contract authorized by the public body of which they are members during their term of office
and for one year thereafter. Jones complained that Howell's participation in the Legidature's gppropriation
of funds to the Mississppi Divison of Medicaid and Howell's receipt of Medicaid funds as a pharmacist
condtituted a conflict of interest in violation of Section 109.



2. John Reed, also alegidator and pharmacist, intervened as a party-defendant, and the Mississippi Ethics
Commission was joined as a plantiff by order of the court. After atrid, the chancdlor found Howell and
Reed in violation of Section 109 and enjoined their further receipt of Medicaid funds. The chancdlor denied
the plaintiffs request for restitution. The plaintiffs gopeded to this Court from the chancery court's refusd to
order regtitution, and the legidators cross-gppeded on the chancery court's finding that they violated
Section 109.

3. In arriving at our decison, this Court is ever mindful that Section 109 serves the policy of protecting the
public interest by "preventing graft of every possible sort, and secure the honest and clean administration of
[governmentd] affairs™ Noxubee County Hardware Co. v. City of Macon, 90 Miss. 636, 43 So. 304,
305 (1907). Neverthdess, we are dso mindful that Section 109 must not be interpreted too expansively,
without regard to common sense congdering modern, current circumstances and conditions. We will not
dlow or cause grave risks to state government, nor will we require that which is"thoroughly impracticable.”
Frazier v. State ex rel. Pittman, 504 So. 2d 675, 695 (Miss. 1987). We hold that the two legidators,
Howell and Read, are not in violation of Section 109 and accordingly are not required to reimburse the
dtate for funds accepted during their roles as providers through their respective pharmacies participating in
the Medicaid program for the poor and needy. We, therefore, reverse and render the chancellor's
judgment.

FACTSAND PROCEEDINGS BEL OW

4. Charles T. Jones, as ataxpayer and citizen of Montgomery County, Mississppi, filed a complaint
againgt Representative Bobby M. Howdl in the Chancery Court of Hinds County on July 24, 1995, dleging
that because Howell's compensation as a Medicaid provider depends upon the appropriation of funds
authorized by the Missssippi Legidature during histerms of office, heis"interested” in a contract authorized
by the public body of which heisamember in violation of Section 109.

5. The Medicad Assstance Program (hereinafter "Medicaid") is a cooperative program of the state and
federal governments that provides medical assistance for the poor. See Title XIX of the Socid Security Act
of 1935, 42 U.S.C. 88 1396 et seg. Under the Medicaid program, the federal government shares with the
dates the cost of reimbursaing participating agencies, physicians and pharmacies for services rendered to
eligible recipients. 42 U.S.C. 88 1396a & 1396d. On the state level, the Mississippi Medicaid law, enacted
in 1969, provides for a Satewide system of medical assistance, to be administered by the Missssppi
Medicaid Commission, now called the Divison of Medicad, Office of the Governor. Miss. Code Ann.

88 43-13-101 et seg. (2000 & Supp. 2001). The Legidature annualy appropriates money for the
Missssippi Medicaid program.

116. To become a Medicaid provider, a pharmacist must submit an application and execute a Medica
Assstance Participation Agreement (hereinafter " participation agreement™) with the Divison of Medicad.
Pursuant to the participation agreement, the pharmacist fills prescriptions for Medicaid recipients and
submits claims for reimbursement to the Divison of Medicaid. The Divison of Medicaid remburses each
provider at the end of each month according to a pecific formula. The formulawas established by statute
prior to 1992, and the formula cannot be varied by the Division of Medicaid. See Miss. Code Ann § 43-
13-117(9) (Supp. 2001). The formulafor prescription drugs provides that, for every prescription filled, the
provider receives a digpensing fee of $4.91, without regard to the cost of the medicine. In addition to the
dispensing fee, the provider aso receives the average wholesale price of the medicine less ten percent of the



average wholesde price. The provider usudly receives a discount from the drug company from which he or
she purchases the medicine. This discount is generdly Sixteen to eighteen percent of the wholesde price.
Thus, taking into account the formula, a provider may redize a gross profit of approximately six to eight
percent on the cost of the medicine purchased, plus the dispensing fee of $4.91.

Representative Howdll

{I7. Bobby M. Howell was elected to the Mississippi House of Representatives, 46" Didtrict, in 1991 and
initidly took the oath of office in that body in January 1992. Howell has been redected to that office and
has served continuoudly in that office snce 1992. A licensed pharmecist, Howell has practiced pharmacy in
Kilmichadl, Mississppi, Since 1968. He has participated in the Medicaid program since 1970.

118. Howell was sole proprietor of Kilmichagl Drugs from 1968 to 1995. He executed participation
agreements in 1970, 1973, 1976 and 1980. During the time he was sole proprietor of Kilmichael Drugs,
Howel| received dl Medicaid rembursements directly. In July 1995, five days before this action was filed,
Howell incorporated Kilmichagl Drugs. Upon incorporation, Howel| transferred al assets of the drugstore
to the corporation, Kilmichagl Drugs, Inc. He testified that a substantia factor in his decision to incorporate
was the news that Jones was preparing to file this action. He testified that he incorporated the drugstore in
order to shelter his assets.

19. Howell's wife, Charmayne Howell, serves as president and owner of Kilmichadl Drugs, Inc. Howdl's
two children serve on the corporation's board of directors. Howell owns no stock in the corporation. He
has no employment contract with the corporation, nor does he receive a sdlary. Howell testified that he
draws money out of the corporation "as needed." Mrs. Howell executed a participation agreement in 1995
on behdf of Kilmichadl Drugs, Inc. All Medicaid rembursements are now received by the corporation.
Jones sought declaratory and injunctive relief and asked that Howell repay the state $864,000 in gross
funds which he had received from Medicaid.

120. During Howe l'sterms of office in the Legidature, the Legidature passed the following bills: severa
Medicaid appropriation bills. From March of 1992 through March of 1994, Howell voted "yed" in favor of
seven hills that provided for Medicaid funding. In February of 1995 and March of 1997, Howell voted
"present” on two house appropriation bills, and in April of 1996, Howell cast hisonly "nay" vote on one hill.

Representative Read

f111. John Read has served continuously as amember of the House of Representatives, 112" Didtrict, since
January 1993. During histimein office, Read, also alicensed pharmacist, has been employed by Controlex
Enterprise, doing business as Sav-Rex Pharmacy, in Gautier, Missssppi. Read tetified that heisnot a
shareholder of Controlex, but that he is a sdaried employee. Reed testified that reimbursements from the
Medicaid Divison go directly to Controlex Enterprise, and any Medicaid funds received by Read are
received only indirectly in the form of salary. Read stated that his salary is not based on a percentage of the
corporation's Medicaid business.

1112. Read executed a participation agreement in 1974 on behdf of Sav-Rex Pharmacy. The participation
agreement bears Read's Signature as partner. Prior to Read's testimony regarding hisrole at Sav-Rex, at the
hearing on the motions for summary judgment, counsel for Read Stipulated that Read is a partner in the
drugstore, but that he is not the contralling partner. However, in an effort to dlarify his employment satus,



Reed tedtified at trid that at the time the agreement was executed, he and two others were planning on
establishing a partnership. However, because one of the partners backed out, the partnership was never
formed.

113. Like Howdll, Read has participated in the gppropriation of funding to the Medicaid program. During
Read's tenure in office-seven Medicaid gppropriations bills were passed. Read voted "yea" on four hills,
voted "present” on two hills, and was "absent” for the vote on one hill.

114. Both Howell and Read are required to file annudly a sworn Statement of Economic Interest provided
by the Mississippi Ethics Commission. See Miss. Code Ann. 8 25-4-27 (1999). The statement requires a
ligting of al public bodies from which the legidator received compensation in excess of $1,000 during the
preceding year. Neither Howell nor Read disclosed their receipt of compensation from Medicaid.

115. Jones filed this action againgt Howdl in the Chancery Court of the First Judicid Didtrict of Hinds
County on July 24, 1995, dleging that Howell's compensation as aMedicaid provider depends upon the
appropriation of funds authorized by the Missssppi Legidature during histerms of office. Thus, Jones
arguesthat Howell is"interested” in a contract authorized by the Legidature in violation of Section 109. On
July 31, 1995, Jones filed an amended complaint, adding as a defendant Kilmichagl Drugs, Inc. Jones
requested a declaratory judgment that Howell violated Section 109 and that Howell isindigible to hold
office while receiving Medicaid reimbursements. Jones aso requested injunctive relief prohibiting Howell
from receiving, from the Medicaid Divison or Kilmichad Drugs, Inc., Medicaid reimbursements while
Howell is amember of the Legidature and for one year theresfter. The complaint and amended complaint
aso named the Medicaid Divison as a defendant and requested injunctive relief prohibiting the Medicaid
Divison from disbursng Medicaid payments to Howell or Kilmichadl Drugs, Inc. while Howell isamember
of the Legidature and for one year thereafter. Additiondly, the complaint sought retitution from Howell for
compensation received from Medicaid in violation of Section 109.

116. Read intervened as a defendant. On March 11, 1996, the Mississippi Ethics Commission, having been
joined as a party plaintiff by order of the court, filed a complaint in intervention against Howell, Kilmichagl
Drugs, Inc., and the Divison of Medicad.

1117. On December 8-9, 1997, the chancery court denied the parties motions for summary judgment and
proceeded to a bench trid. The court entered its amended opinion and fina judgment on August 31, 1998.
The chancdlor found that the interests of both Howell and Read violated Section 109. The court
permanently enjoined Howell, Kilmichadl Drugs, Inc., and Read from further receipt of Medicaid
relmbursements, effective from the date of fina judgment until one year after the expiration of Howell's and
Read's respective terms of office. The court dso permanently enjoined the Divison of Medicaid not to
reimburse Howd, Kilmichael Drugs, Inc., or Reed for further Medicaid rembursement payments, effective
for the same period.

1118. The chancdllor denied the plaintiffs request that the court require Howell and Read to remburse the
Statefor dl Medicaid funds paid to them while they served in the Legidature. The chancedllor stated that the
plaintiffs proof of net profitswas "largely speculative and conjecturd™ and that the true amount of damages
could not be reasonably ascertained. The chancellor also stated that there was no real injury sustained by
the State that would support an award of damages.

1119. The chancery court granted Howell's and Read's request for a stay of enforcement of the judgment



pending gppedl. Jones and the Mississppi Ethics Commission filed notices of apped to this Court. Howell
and Read d <o filed notices of gpped. The parties raise the following issues:

|.WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE RECEIPT OF
MEDICAID FUNDSBY HOWELL, KILMICHAEL DRUGS, INC., AND READ
VIOLATED SECTION 109.

II. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN FINDING THAT HOWELL AND
READ SHOULD NOT BE REQUIRED TO MAKE RESTITUTION OF FUNDS
RECEIVED IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 109.

. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN GRANTING A STAY OF ITS
INJUNCTION PENDING APPEAL WITHOUT REQUIRING HOWELL AND READ TO
POST BOND OR SECURITY.

IV.WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN NOT ADMITTING INTO EVIDENCE
THE SUBMITTER AGREEMENT DATED JANUARY 9, 1992, AND THE DIRECT
DEPOSIT AUTHORIZATION DATED AUGUST 14, 1992.

CROSS-APPEAL

|.DOESMISS. CONST. ART. 4,8 109 PROHIBIT A PERSON FROM SERVING IN
THE MISSISSIPPI LEGISLATURE WHILE THAT PERSON ACTSASA PROVIDER
OF MEDICAL ASSISTANCE UNDER MISSISSIPPI'SMEDICAID LAW?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

120. A chancdlor's findings of fact will not be disturbed unless manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous.
Consolidated Pipe & Supply Co. v. Colter, 735 So. 2d 958, 961 (Miss. 1999) (citing Denson v.
George, 642 So. 2d 909, 913 (Miss.1994)). For questions of law, the standard of review is de novo.
Harrison County v. City of Gulfport, 557 So. 2d 780, 784 (Miss.1990); Colev. Nat'l LifeIns. Co.,
549 So. 2d 1301, 1303 (Miss.1989). The facts of this case are undisputed. The only questions are ones of
law.

DISCUSSION

921. In gpplying Section 109 to Howell and Read, we combine Issues |, |1, and the legidators Issue | on
Cross-Apped for discussion purposes.

I, 1., & I. CROSS-APPEAL

122. Atissuein this case isthe proper interpretation of Article 4, Section 109 of the Mississippi
Condtitution of 1890 which Sates:

No public officer or member of the legidature shdl be interested, directly, or indirectly, in any contract
with the state, or any district, county, city, or town thereof, authorized by any law passed or order
made by any board of which he may be or may have been amember, during the term for which he
ghdl have been chosen, or within one year after the expiration of such term.



The"landmark case” interpreting Section 109 isFrazier v. State ex rel. Pittman, 504 So.2d 675 (Miss.
1987). InFrazer, this Court stated that Section 109 prohibits any member of the Legidature from: (a)
having any direct or indirect interest in any contract (b) with the state or any politica subdivison (c)
executed during histerm of office or one year theredfter, and (d) authorized by any law, or order of any
board of which he was amember. 1d. at 693.

1123. This Court has noted that while there is no difficulty in ascertaining (b) and (c) of the above factors, "it
is(a) and (d) where the gray areas are encountered.” 1d. The case a hand involves an interpretation of
factor (a). Thereis no issue regarding factor (d) asthis Court has clearly held that legidative gppropriations
to state agencies "authorize" contracts funded by those appropriations. Cassibry v. State, 404 So. 2d
1360, 1365-66 (Miss. 1981).

9124. This Court observed in Frazier:

[1]t is clear this section isto protect the government. It is not a provision to protect individua rights. It
is not concerned with whether some individud or dass of individuas may suffer from its enforcement.
Asnoted in Noxubee County Hardware Co., . . .the transgresson test is intended to be mechanistic
and objective, and motives and intentions of persons who violate it are immaterid. Its purposeisto
remove any temptation to invade its proscription. It is aso asdf-executing section . . . . It prohibits an
individud having an interest in a contract when he as a public officer served on the officia body which
enabled the contract to come into being. It isthat smple. . . .

Frazier, 504 So.2d at 694.

125. Howell and Read contend that, in this case, it is not "that smple.” In fact, we note initialy thet the
participation agreements, which are the sole basis for the alleged violation of Section 109, are totally unlike
any contract previoudy found by this Court to be within the scope of Section 109. None of the casesrelied
on by the chancellor involved the type of government welfare assstance program as exists in the case a
bar. This Court has stated that while the effect of Section 109 must be "ascertained from the plain meaning
of the words and terms used within it," the Court should look to "the evils to be avoided or cured, and
thereby arrive at the reasonable meaning.” 1d. at 694 (quoting Ex parte Dennis, 334 So. 2d 369, 373
(Miss. 1976); Trahan v. State Highway Comm'n, 169 Miss. 732, 749, 151 So. 178, 182 (1933)).
Though Section 109 sweeps broadly, this Court has acknowledged that there is an "edge to [its] target.”
Frazier, 504 So.2d at 695 (citing Cassibry, 404 So.2d at 1368). It is not required that one be a party to
the contract in question to have an interest in the contract thet violates Section 109. See, e.qg., Cassibry,
404 So. 2d at 1365-67 (holding that state senator who was attorney for party to contract with state wasin
violation of § 109).

126. Applying the factors set forth in Frazier, the chancdlor found that the participation of Howell and
Reed in Medicaid appropriations "directly or indirectly affect[ed] the availability of state funds for Medicaid
rembursements to Medicaid providers." The chancellor concluded that the participation agreements are
contracts with the state that are authorized by the Medicaid appropriation bills. The chancellor concluded
that Howell had and continues to have a direct financid interest in Medicaid reimbursements. The chancellor
aso concluded that Read had and continues to have an indirect financid interest in Medicaid
reimbursements.

127. On cross-gpped, Howdl and Read (hereinafter "legidators') argue that their participation as Medicaid



providers does not create a conflict of interest in violaion of Section 109. They argue that the chancdllor's
goplication of the four-part test set forth in Frazier isoverly expansve. For example, they contend that it
failsto take into account modern developmentsin the Medicaid program and ignores the common-sense
manner in which Section 109 should be gpplied. It isthe following language from Frazier upon which they
rdy:

Our interpretation [of § 109] should not be "too literd," and we have recognized that no congtitutional
previson [Sc] requires to be done that which is "thoroughly impracticable.” We have likewise stated
that our Condtitution should be interpreted:

... Inthelight of developments which have gppeared at the time of interpretation, and may therefore
include things and condiitions which not only did not exist but were not contemplated when it was
drafted, so long as the new developments are in their nature within the scope of the purposes and
powers for the furtherance of which the congtitution was established.

.. .. [N]Jo meaning, however abstractly vaid should be carried into practical effect if doing so would
cause grave risks to be imposed on the government of the people of this State. Such an interpretation
would insult the common sense of our predecessors when they adopted § 109.

Frazier, 504 So0.2d at 694-95 (citations omitted).

1128. The legidators contend that Section 109 should be interpreted in light of "the role of government and
the private sector in the provison of aid to the poor.” They explain that the participation agreements are
"gmply means of providing financid aid to the needy.” They argue that they are merely conduits that
distribute the medication. The State provides the funding for the health care, and the needy choose from
whom they will obtain the services.

129. The legidators state that the purpose of Section 109 isto protect the public interest by "preventing
graft of every possible sort, and securing the honest and clean administration of municipa affairs™ Noxubee
County Hardware Co. v. City of Macon, 90 Miss. 636, 43 So. 304, 305 (1907). They contend that
thereis no danger of sdf-deding by Medicaid providersin legidative roles because the gppropriations to
Medicaid do not affect the amount that the providers are reimbursed. Similarly, thereis no incentive for
them to vote one way or the other on appropriation bills because the amount of money they make depends,
not on how much money is gppropriated, but on how many Medicaid recipients choose to use their
pharmacy. We agree.

1130. The purposes of Section 109 are to ingtill public confidence in the integrity of government and to
remove any temptation to invade its proscription. Hinds Community College Dist. v. Muse, 725 So. 2d
207, 211 (Miss. 1998); State ex rel. Miss. Ethics Comm'n v. Aseme, 583 So. 2d 955, 958 (Miss.
1991). The questions are whether Howell and Read, by voting on appropriations to the Medicaid program,
are guilty of sdf-deding and whether their interests could reasonably be expected to influence their
judgment. Smith v. Dorsey, 530 So. 2d 5, 12-13 (Miss. 1988) (Prather, J., concurring in part and
dissenting in part).

131. The decision of the Georgia Supreme Court in Georgia Dep't of Med. Assistance v. Allgood, 320
S.E.2d 155 (Ga. 1984), supports the legidators interpretation of the participation agreements. The
question in Allgood was whether nursing homes and pharmacies owned by members of the Sate legidature



or their pouses may, consistent with Georgia's Code of Ethics, receive Medicaid reimbursements from the
date. The Georgia Supreme Court held that the legidators interests did not violate the Code of Ethics. The
court determined that the pharmacies were sdling property to the Medicaid recipients, not to the state. The
Allgood court aso referred to various opinions holding that the state is not a purchaser of prescription
drugs dispensed to medicaid recipients because the state never obtainstitle to or possession of the drugs;
and therefore, the state does not have a proprietary interest in the drugs. Allgood, 320 S.E.2d at 158-59.
In the case at bar, likewise the redlity isthat funds appropriated to Medicaid are for the benefit of the poor
and needy recipients, not the providers. Thus, pharmacists like Howell and Read are mere conduits of
medica assistance to these poor people who are digible for Medicaid.

1132. In the case at bar, we find that the legidators interest in Medicaid gppropriations is o remote as to
remove them from the purpose of Section 109. We accept the legidators argument that no decision Howell
or Read make in voting on a Medicaid appropriation bill can affect the amount of reimbursements they
receive. They cannot negotiate a contract with the state for a better or different price which they can charge.
The reimbursement rates for prescription drugs are fixed by law. Miss. Code Ann. § 43-13-117(9). In their
individua decisons to purchase medications, Medicaid recipients themselves, not the Legidature, control
whether Howell and Read receive reimbursements. A Medicaid recipient is entitled to choose to purchase
drugs from the legidators respective pharmacies before the State is obligated to pay the provider.
Therefore, neither Howdl nor Read can affect the level of rembursements they individualy might receive by
avote gppropriating funds to the state's Medicaid program. They have absolutely no control over this
gtuation.

1133. Aswe stated in Frazier, "[N]o meaning, however abstractly valid, should be carried into practica
effect if doing so would cause grave risks to be imposed on the government of the people of this State.
Such an interpretation would insult the common sense of our predecessors when they adopted § 109." 504
0. 2d at 695. This Court cannot fathom that the framers of our Congtitution intended such an interpretation
and harsh result as the chancellor imposed upon these two legidators. 1 d. Thus, there are "practicd limits'
to the gpplication of Section 109. Common sense dictates that the Medicaid participation agreements
simply are not the types of contracts contemplated by the framers of Section 109. Rather, asthe legidators
contend, the "Medicaid program and the participation agreements under which Howell and Read operate
are amply means of providing financid ad to the needy." Pharmacigts like Read and Howell do, in fact,
serve as conduits for the provision of benefits to the needy for hedth care. Certainly no one denies the fact
that the provider agreements alow the providersto be reimbursed for Medicaid prescriptions. However,
when the Court examines the substance, as opposed to the form, of the agreements between the
pharmacies and the Division of Medicald, it becomes clear that the agreements are "merely a means of
assuring that providers comply with Medicaid laws and regulations’ and that they are not the types of
contracts contemplated by Section 109. A smilar Stuation isexisted in Aseme, 583 So. 2d 955. There, a
physician obtained benefits due to having public hospital saff privileges and yet he served on the hospitd's
board of trustees. This Court held that such was not a contract for Section 109 purposes because his
compensation was not dependent on these privileges and the danger of graft and sdf-dedling arising from
smultaneous service on the board is too attenuated. 1 d. at 959-60. Here, we aso note that thereisno
danger of graft or self-dealing arisng from these two legidator pharmacidts participating in the Medicaid
program as providers.

1134. We decline to place Howell and Read in the same category with the attorney/senator in Cassibry v.
State, 404 So. 2d 1360 (Miss. 1981), who was the as corporate counsel for a company named



Developmenta Learning Associates (DLA), which contracted with the State Department of Public Welfare.
Cassibry was held to be directly interested in the contract. Cassibry is distinguishable from the case sub
judice because any compensation received by Cassbry from DLA came from profits from the contract with
the Welfare Department, as the company had no other sources of income. We conclude that neither Howell
nor Reed is in the same category with Cassibry. They both merely receive reimbursements for prescriptions
they fill for Medicaid recipients. As previoudy mentioned, the individud recipients themsdves, in effect,
determine the number of reimbursements they receive. Regardiess of their ability to votein the Legidature
for Medicaid funding, they do not have control, either direct or indirect, over the amount of compensation
their respective pharmacy receives from the state agency. Thiswas not the casein Cassibry.

1135. Also digtinguishable in favor of the legidatorsis Frazier. In that case teachers/legidators benefitted
from asmple direct line of appropriation--from the Legidature to the employer of the teachers/legidators
for the purpose of funding their salaries. The line of gppropriation in the case a hand is not that direct nor is
the purpose that Sgnificant. After legidative approval, the gppropriations go to the Divison of Medicaid.
The pharmacist must submit claims to the Division of Medicaid, which then reimburses the pharmaci<.
Agan, aggnificant link in this chain isthe role of the Medicaid recipients who may or may not choose to
submit prescriptions to the particular pharmacist. Also, noteworthy isthe fact that the reimbursements do
not condtitute the pharmacist's total income as was the case of the appropriations a issue in both Frazier
and Cassibry. InFrazier, the appropriations, once approved by the Legidature, went directly to the
employer of the teachers/legidators for the purpose of totally funding their sdlaries. Also, in Cassibry,
DLA's contracts with the Department of Welfare were DLA's sole source of income. 1d. at 1364. Here, the
legidators sdaries are not linked to or based upon the amount of Medicaid rembursements their
pharmacies receive.

1136. If the legidators had used their position in the Legidature to gain specid privileges that were not
availableto al othersin his class, atrue conflict of interest would exist. For indtance, if they had entered into
a contract made available to them because of their position and that contract gave them pricing advantages
over other licensad pharmacists, then a genuine conflict would exig. If they obtained a specific certificate to
operate a privately-owned business exclusive of the rights of others, then a conflict would exig. If, while
sarving in the Legidature, they had in any way asssted to modify their rightsto act and practice asa
pharmacist in Missssppi, then a conflict would exist. Under the facts of the case a hand, however, the
legidators have neither modified nor gained any rights that are not identica to therights of dl othersin ther
class. Equdly important isthe fact that the Medicaid program dlows them no right to negotiate a contract
that is any different from those entered into by every other member of their class, nor are they granted any
exclusive privilege or contract to Sngly represent any state or other governmentd agency. In fact, they
cannot negotiate & dl. Their dleged Sn in this case was the execution of aform "Participation Agreement”
authorizing them to directly receive Medicaid rembursements. The form they sgned was identical to the
same forms executed by al other Mississippi pharmacists who would agree to service Medicaid clients.
This form amounted to nothing more than alicense to fill prescriptions for Medicaid dients. They received
no specid preference over other pharmacists unlike the Stuation in Cassibry, 404 So. 2d at 1365-66, nor
did their licenang prohibit others from serving in a public pogtion unlike the Stuation in Frazier, 504 So. 2d
675, and Muse, 725 So. 2d at 213.

1137. Strong public policy considerations undergird the need for a reasonable interpretation of Section 109.
Nor should Section 109 be gpplied in amanner which would render vast sectors of our society indligible for
sarvicein our Legidaure. Aswe noted in Frazier,



No socid, political or economic section should be precluded by law from running for the Legidature
without good reason. Any evil sought to be avoided by 8 109 would become attenuated by
prohibiting a prospective legidator from serving the public. Such a prohibition, when balanced against
the potentia harm to our people, goes beyond any possible intent or purpose of this section. . . .

Frazier, 504 So. 2d at 696-98. In a representative democracy the legidative branch of government should
be sprinkled with members from al walks of life. Representative democracy is srengthened when
representatives and senators truly reflect the professiona, gender, racia, and geographic diversity of the
population at large. The need for members who possess particular skills as aresult of education and training
cannot be overemphasized. Neither should we be blind to the fact that members from isolated or rurdl aress
of the state may be unfairly prohibited from serving smply because of aradica interpretation of Section 109
which whally fails to gpply common sense with consderation of modern economic, culturd and political
circumstances or conditions.

1138. If the trid court'sinterpretation were to prevall, the legidators would be faced with the dilemma of
ether resgning from the Legidature or refusing to provide a vauable service to the citizens of their
respective districts. Such an outcome could not have been considered, much less have been the intent of the
framers of our 1890 Congtitution when they adopted Section 109. In those days society did not enjoy the
overlapping rights, privileges, and respongbilities found in today's world where oftentimes local, sate, and
federal governmenta programs interrelate and interact. The concept of awelfare state and various programs
for the needy did not emerge until the 1930's. If these legidators are in violation of Section 109, so too
would any legidators who are Medicaid recipients, Medicaid doctors, or shareholdersin other companies
which provide Medicaid services. Other examples which would be problematic: (1) Legidators/attorneys
would not be digible to be gppointed to represent indigent defendants in criminal cases who are paid with
county or state funds appropriated in whole or in part by the Legidature. (2) Neither legidators nor their
family members would be digible for student loans pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. 88 37-51-1t0-21 &

88 37-145-1to - 73 (2001) because they are funded by legidative gppropriations. Thus, while Section
109 islaudable, its application must be tempered and baanced according to the facts of each case.

The need for honesty in government must be balanced againgt the legitimacy of public officids having
private interests. Otherwise, [redtrictions like 8 109 and implementing statutes] could effectively deter
qudified people with expertise in their repective fidds from entering public office for fear that any
privete interest could result in a conviction for having a conflict of interest.

Susan Denise Morgan Guerieri & George Mitchel Simmerman, J., Recent Decision, 52 Miss. L.J. 659,
677 (1982) (footnotes omitted).

1139. Smply put, Section 109 must only be interpreted by this Court to provide arationa prohibition against
sdf-deding and abuse of power. We find that the best analys's hinges upon whether an individuad member
of the Legidaure was in a postion to advance the rights and benefits for himsdlf, his friends and family
beyond common rights and responsibilities provided to other members of his professond class. We hold
that there is no violation of Section 109 by either Howell or Read. Accordingly, we reverse and render the
chancellor on hisfinding that the legidators violated Section 109.

. & 1V.



1140. The Ethics Commission raises the two remaining issues in its " Statement of the Issues' contained in its
initid appdlate brief. However, it makes no argument regarding the issuesin its briefs and provide no
supporting authority. It isthe duty of an appelant to provide authority in support of an assgnment of error.
Hoopsv. State, 681 So. 2d 521, 526 (Miss. 1996); Kelly v. State, 553 So. 2d 517, 521 (Miss. 1989);
Smith v. State, 430 So. 2d 406, 407 (Miss. 1983); Ramseur v. State, 368 So. 2d 842, 844 (Miss.
1979). This Court consders assertions of error not supported by citation of authority to be abandoned.
Thibodeaux v. State, 652 So. 2d 153, 155 (Miss. 1995). Because the Ethics Commission has failed to
meet the burden of providing authority to support these assgnments of error, these issues are procedurdly
barred. Drennan v. State, 695 So. 2d 581, 585-86 (Miss. 1997).

CONCLUSION

141. The chancdlor erred in concluding Howell and Read violated Section 109. Therefore, neither Howell
nor Read is prohibited by Section 109 from serving in the Legidature while acting as a provider of medical
assgance under the Medicaid gatutes. We reverse the chancery court's judgment, and we render judgment
findly dismissing the plaintiffs amended complaints and this action with prejudice.

142. REVERSED AND RENDERED.

PITTMAN, CJ., COBB, EASLEY AND CARLSON, JJ., CONCUR. GRAVES, J.,
CONCURSIN RESULT ONLY. McRAE, PJ., DISSENTSWITH SEPARATE WRITTEN
OPINION JOINED BY DIAZ,J. WALLER, J., NOT PARTICIPATING.

McRAE, PRESIDING JUSTICE, DISSENTING:

1143. Because the mgority has changed the meaning of § 109 as it was twice affirmed by the citizens of this
date, | dissent. The mgjority states that in addition to using common sense when interpreting 8109, "this
Court is ever mindful that section 109 serves the policy of protecting the public interest by ‘prevent[ing] graft
of every possible sort, and secur|ing] the honest and clean adminigtration of [governmenta] affairs:!
Noxubee County Hardware Co. v. City of Macon, 90 Miss. 636, 43 So. 304, 305 (1907)." Also, it
attests that 8109 plainly "forbids public officers from having a direct or indirect interest in a contract
authorized by the public body of which they are members during their term of office and for one year
theredfter." However, the mgjority has not followed its own dictates in finding that Howell has not violated §
109.

144. InFrazier v. State ex rel. Pittman, 504 So.2d 675, 695 (Miss. 1987), we held that a conflict of
interest in violation of 8109 was present in Stuations where the spouse of alegidator was ateacher in the
date educationd system and that future infractions would be treated harshly. The mgority has not been
more harsh in this case. In fact, it has relaxed 8109 to the point that it has no bite. Thereis no question that
in the case sub judice Howell knew his actions were in violation of § 109. A smple comparison of the text
of 8109 to the behavior of Howell over the years indicates a complete disregard for 8109 and shows that
he, as alegidator, improperly ran his busness. The holding of the mgority - that Howell, a private busness
owner and legidator, was not directly involved in the gopropriation of fundsto his business from a public
trust - isflawed. Howell voted and had influence on the appropriations bill(s). The mgority should ook



again at the Miss. Congt. of 1890 Art. 4, 8 109 which states:

No public officer or member of the legidature shal be interested, directly, or indirectly, in any contract
with the gtate, or any digtrict, county, city, or town thereof, authorized by any law passed or order
made by any board of which he may be or may have been a member, during the term for which he
shdl have been chosen, or within one year after the expiration of such term.

Id.

145. | dso part company with the mgority's decision to lump Read and Howell in the same category. While
they are both legidators, their professiona roles differ. Read did not violate § 109; he istoo far removed.
However, Howell's actions were in direct conflict with § 109. The mgority cites Hinds Community
College Dist. v. Muse, 725 So0.2d 207, 211 (Miss. 1998) and State ex rel. Miss. Ethics Comm'n v.
Aseme, 583 So.2d 955, 958 (Miss. 1991), and then turns around and uses Justice Prather's opinion
(concurring in part and dissenting in part) in Smith v. Dorsey, 530 So.2d 5, 12-13 (Miss. 1988), as
authority on the question of whether Howell and Read, by voting on appropriations to the Medicaid
program, are guilty of saf-dedling, and whether their interests could reasonably be expected to influence
their judgment. Howell and Read, though they are both pharmacistsin private practice, have differing
businessinterests; and therefore, they should be trested separately.

146. The mgority uses Frazier to support its contention that Howell has not violated §109. Indeed, it
holds that to interpret 8109 any other way would override the practicd limits of 8109, and it quotes
Frazier in saying that to interpret 8109 otherwise "would insult the common sense of our predecessors
when they adopted 8109." Frazier, 504 So0.2d at 694. Section 109 means exactly what it says. That
Howell knew he was in violation of this statute is evident from the fact that he attempted to put the business
in hiswifés name after theinitid inquiry. To have the busnessin his wife's name would aso conditute a
violaion under Frazier. A smplereading of Frazier, Cassibry v. State, 404 So.2d 1360 (Miss. 1981),
8109, and Muse points to one conclusion: that the chancellor was correct in his ruling on this case as
regards Howell and erred asto Read.

147. In Muse, this Court held that a 8 109 violation existed even though Dr. Muse did not proceduraly
recommend his wife for the pogtion at Hinds Community College, nor did he ever vote on the contract of
hiswife at the community college. To say thet the case sub judice is not aviolation of § 109 fliesin the face
of precedent. Howell, as alegidator, sets the amount of rembursement for Medicaid providers and the
procedures pharmacigts are to follow in order to be paid their share. Even now using the new, fictitious
criteriaand the imaginary yardstick adhered to by the mgority, the best andysis of this Situation is one
which would hinge upon whether the individud legidator isin a postion to advance the persond interests of
himsdf, hisfamily and/or his friends to the detriment of ordinary citizens or other members of his
professond class. The use of any other andysis would be tantamount to saying that honesty is no longer a
trademark of government. To use the mgjority's measuring stick isto say that anyone can do anything.
Accordingly, | dissent to the mgjority's decision regarding Howell.

148. | also dissent as to the mgjority's analysis concerning whether Read violated 8§ 109. Read, a sdaried
employee of Controlex since 1971 and a member of the Mississppi House of Representatives since 1993,
derives no direct gain from the legidature. The chancellor found Read to have an indirect financid interest in
the Medicaid rembursements paid to his employer, Controlex Enterprise, d/b/a Sav-Rex. Read ingsts that
his interest in the participation agreementsis so indirect as to be outside the restriction of § 109. | agree



with Read; thus it should be concluded that he has not violated § 109.

149. Under oath, Read testified that, Since 1971, he has been only a salaried employee of Controlex. He
has never been a partner or a shareholder in the company. Medicaid reimbursements are paid directly to

Controlex and if Read receives any Medicaid funds, it is only indirectly in the form of sdary. Read further
stated that no portion of his salary is based on the percentage of Medicaid business the corporation does.

150. The main question in determining whether Read's interest is remote enough to warrant remova from
the proscription of 8§ 109 is whether his compensation depends upon payment being made under the
contract. Cassibry, 404 So.2d at 1367. In order to answer this, we look at the factsin Cassibry and
Frazer. In Cassibry, the primary distinction from the present case was that the Developmentd Leaning
Asociaes ("DLA™) only source of income was from its contracts with the Department of Welfare.
Therefore, if Cassbry, alegidator and DLA's atorney, collected any amount of money from DLA, it was
inarguably profit from its contracts with the Welfare Department. We concluded that Cassbry had a direct
interest in the contract because his compensation was dependant upon payment being made under the
contract. Cassibry, 404 So.2d a 1367. In the present case, athough the compensation of Read's
employer, Controlex, slems from its contract with Medicaid, we cannot infer this about Read's sdary. He
hes testified that he receives no money from Medicaid, and there is no intimation that Read's sdlary would
change if Controlex did not receive reimbursements from Medicaid.

151. InFrazier, the Stuation was different as it involved members of the legidature who gppropriated funds
which affected their employment contracts with a public school digtrict and a sate university aswel asthe
employment contract of alegidator's wife, a school district employee. Frazier, 504 So.2d at 675. We
found the legidators involvement in their employment contracts to be in violation of § 109 asthe
appropriations went directly to the employers of the teachers/legidators for the purpose of funding their
sdaies. We dso drew aline by holding that the employment contract of alegidator's wife who was
employed by aschool digtrict, though technicaly appropriated by the legidature, did not rise to the level of
a § 109 violation. As mentioned in the previous paragraph, Read's sdlary is not predicated upon the rate of
Medicaid reimbursements received by his employer. Further, to find that Read'sinterest is within the
proscription imposed by § 109, even indirectly, would prevent any citizen whose employer has a contract
with the gate from serving in the legidature.

152. In summation, because Controlex's Medicaid reimbursements do not affect Read's sdary, hisvote
does not affect hisincome either. Therefore, it cannot be established that Read's interest could reasonably
be expected to influence his judgment. Smith v. Dorsey, 530 So.2d at 12-13 (Prather, J., concurring in
part and dissenting in part). Read is not in conflict with § 109, and the judgment of the chancery court asto
him should be reversed and rendered. He should not be required to pay restitution or damages in any form.

953. For these reasons, | dissent.

DIAZ, J., JOINSTHIS OPINION.



